INDIAN ENVIRONMENTAL GENERAL ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

GUIDELINES ON THE AWARD AND MANAGEMENT OF GENERAL ASSISTANCE AGREEMENTS FOR INDIAN TRIBES

March 9, 2000

American Indian Environmental Office Office of Water U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

TABLE OF CONTENTS

BACKGROUND
I. WHAT THESE GUIDELINES COVER
A) To whom do these guidelines apply?
B) Do these guidelines replace the 1994 GAP guidance?
D) When are these guidelines effective?
E) Under what authority does EPA award GAP grants?
F) What regulations govern the award and administration of GAP grants?
G) Are there other EPA grant regulations and OMB Circulars that apply to GAP
grants?
H) What definitions are applicable?
II. THE PURPOSE OF GAP AND ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A) What is the purpose of the GAP program?
B) What can GAP grantees do with GAP grants?
C) Can GAP funds be used for construction?
D) Can GAP funds be used to lease or purchase a vehicle for use in developing an
environmental program?
E) Can GAP funds be used to develop Geographic Information Systems (GIS)?
F) Can GAP funds be used to implement solid waste and hazardous waste programs? \dots <u>14</u>
G) Can GAP funds be used to plan, design, construct or operate a wastewater treatment facility
or drinking water facility?
H) Can GAP funds be used to develop programs to manage and oversee wastewater treatment
or drinking water facilities? \dots 14
I) Can GAP funds be used to plan, develop or establish environmental protection programs not
regulated by EPA?
J) Can GAP funds be used for baseline environmental assessments or monitoring? \dots 15
K) Can GAP funds be used to develop a system of permitting or licensing fees?
L) Can GAP funds be used to prepare program eligibility application packages?
M) Can GAP funds be used to conduct demonstration projects?
III. THE APPLICATION PROCESS
A) Who is eligible for a GAP grant?
B) What are the eligibility requirements for an Intertribal consortium?
C) Must a Tribe or an Intertribal Consortium have land to get a GAP grant?
D) Are Alaska Tribes eligible for GAP grants?
E) Are Alaska Native regional or village corporations eligible for GAP grants? <u>17</u>
F) Are Alaska regional nonprofit corporations eligible for GAP?
G) What is the application process for a GAP grant?

H) What are the minimum GAP grant work plan requirements?	<u>18</u>
I) What quality assurance documentation is required?	<u>19</u>
J) How much is a GAP grant award?	<u>19</u>
K) Is a match required for a GAP grant?	<u>19</u>
L) What is the project period of a GAP grant?	<u>19</u>
M) What is the funding period of a GAP grant?	<u>20</u>
N) Can GAP grantees apply for a new GAP grant at the end of their current GAP grant projection	ect
period?	<u>20</u>
O) Is a grantee guaranteed a subsequent GAP grant?	<u>20</u>
P) Can a grantee get a GAP grant for a project or activity that is already funded by another	
EPA grant?	<u>20</u>
IV. GRANTEE MANAGEMENT OF GAP GRANTS	<u>20</u>
A) What are the grantee financial reporting requirements?	<u>20</u>
B) What are the grantee performance reporting requirements?	<u>21</u>
C)What cost principles apply to the determination of allowable costs under a GAP grant?	21
D) What are the grantee purchasing (procurement) procedures?	
E) What are indirect costs and how are they charged to a GAP grant?	
F) Are GAP grants subject to intergovernmental review?	
G) Can GAP grantees be audited by EPA?	
	<u> </u>
V. INFORMATION FOR EPA MANAGEMENT OF GAP	<u>23</u>
A) What are the responsibilities of a GAP Project Officer?	23
B) What is the Regional process for awarding GAP grants?	
C) How are GAP funds distributed among the Regions?	
D) What is the availability of funds?	
E) Can EPA program-specific funds be reprogrammed into GAP?	<u>24</u>
F) Are GAP grants subject to the policies and guidances issued by the Grants Administration	
Division?	<u>25</u>
G) Is GAP subject to EPA Order 5700.2 on Streamlining Small Grants?	<u>25</u>
H) What should a GAP Project Officer do if a grant has reached the end of a four-year proje	ect
period?	<u>25</u>
I) Can a Regional Grants Management Office award or close out a grant for which the Tribe	or
Tribal consortium does not have an approved indirect cost rate?	<u>25</u>
J) What should a GAP Project Officer do with unexpended funds?	<u>26</u>
VI. REGIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES FOR GAP MANAGEMENT	<u>26</u>
A) What are the Regional reporting requirements?	<u>26</u>
B) What are the responsibilities of the Regional Program Manager?	
C) What are the responsibilities of the Programmatic Regional Program Managers (PRPMs)	
D) What are the responsibilities of the Regional Grants Management Offices?	<u>29</u>

E) What are the responsibilities of the Office of Regional Counsel?
F) What are the responsibilities of the Regional Finance Offices?
VII. HEADQUARTERS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR GAP MANAGEMENT
A) What are the responsibilities of the National Program Manager?
B) What are the responsibilities of the Programmatic National Program Managers (PNPMs)?30
C) What are the responsibilities of the Office of General Counsel?
D) What are the responsibilities of the Office of the Comptroller?
E) What are the responsibilities of the Grants Administration Division (GAD)?
APPENDIX

APPENDIX CONTENTS

- Regional GAP Contacts
- The Indian Environmental General Assistance Program Act of 1992 (42 U.S.C. 4368b) http://www.epa.gov/indian/laws3.htm
- Public Law 103-155, Amendments to the Indian Environmental General Assistance Program Act of 1992 <u>http://www.epa.gov/indian/laws3.htm</u>
- Indian Tribes: General Assistance Grants for Environmental Protection Programs; Interim Final Rule (58 FR 63876) <u>http://www.epa.gov/indian/laws3.htm</u>
- Indian Tribes: General Assistance Grants for Environmental Protection Programs (40 CFR Part 35, Subpart Q) <u>http://www.epa.gov/indian/laws3.htm</u>
- List of Federally-Recognized Indian Tribes <u>http://www.doi.gov/bia/tribes/entry.html</u>
- Overview of Categorical (Program) Financial and Project Assistance from EPA
 <u>http://www.epa.gov/indian/overcat.htm</u>
- Tribal Environmental and Natural Resource Assistance Handbook http://www.epa.gov/indian/tribhand.htm

BACKGROUND

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA or Agency) is responsible for administration of various Federal statutes that provide for protection of public health, welfare and the environment on all lands of the United States. Under the major environmental statutes, EPA has established the national system for pollution prevention, abatement and control. The Agency has established regulatory procedures for standards setting, permitting, information gathering including inspections, and enforcement for facilities and operations that may impact the quality of the environment. Under its Indian Policy, Presidential Memorandum and Executive Orders, EPA works with Tribal governments on a government-to-government basis and recognizes Tribes as the primary parties for making environmental policy decisions and carrying out program responsibilities affecting Indian reservations, their environments, and the health and welfare of the reservation populace. One tool that EPA has to assist Tribes in developing Tribal environmental protection programs is the General Assistance Program (GAP), authorized by the Indian Environmental General Assistance Program Act of 1992, as amended (42 U.S.C. §4368b).

For the first time since assuming oversight of GAP, AIEO is replacing the 1994 GAP guidance. The intent of these guidelines is to clarify eligible activities under GAP, improve AIEO oversight, and make the document more user-friendly. This document provides the national policy guidelines and criteria for the award and administration of GAP grants. It reflects statutory and regulatory requirements and, in some instances, establishes new binding requirements that have not been announced previously. The EPA Regions may provide supplemental guidelines and establish Regional priorities and criteria that are consistent with relevant statutes, regulations and this document. These guidelines will remain in effect unless otherwise modified, and may be supplemented and updated when appropriate. Please note the proposed rule for Environmental Program Grants for Indian Tribes (to be codified at 40 CFR Part 35, Subpart B), which includes regulations for GAP grants, will supersede the current regulation (Subpart Q) when finalized (see 64 Fed. Reg. 40084, July 23, 1999). Guidelines on Performance Partnership Grants that addresses GAP will be forthcoming.

Why was GAP created?

At the time EPA's Indian Policy was adopted in 1984, the environmental statutes administered by EPA generally did not explicitly address the role of Tribes in environmental management, but provided for a joint State and Federal role. Today, five of EPA's statutes specifically allow for EPA authorization of Tribal programs or a substantial role for Tribes:

- Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA)
- Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA)
- Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA or Superfund)
- Clean Water Act (CWA)

• Clean Air Act (CAA)

In addition, in several instances, EPA has reasoned that even though Congress has not specifically provided for Tribal assumption of environmental programs in legislation, the Agency has the discretion to allow for Tribal programs. Two statutes where the opportunity to apply for environmental programs has been extended to Indian Tribes by this rationale are:

- Toxic Substances Control Act; and
- Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act.

The Agency worked through the authorities provided in these statutes and regulations to assist Tribes with the development of Tribal environmental protection programs. However, EPA wants to assist Tribes in developing Tribal environmental protection programs tailored to individual Tribal needs. In response to the Agency's request for more flexibility in assisting the Tribes to build their overall environmental management capacity, Congress first authorized EPA to create the Multi-Media Assistance Program, and subsequently enacted the "Indian Environmental General Assistance Program Act of 1992." In 1993, the Agency promulgated program-specific grant regulations that govern the award of General Assistance Program grants (58 Fed. Reg. 63878, Dec. 2, 1993; 40 CFR Part 35, Subpart Q). Under GAP, Tribes and Intertribal consortia may use GAP grants for planning, developing or establishing environmental protection programs.

I. WHAT THESE GUIDELINES COVER

A) To whom do these guidelines apply?

These guidelines apply to the following:

- A Tribe or Intertribal consortium applying for a General Assistance Program (GAP) grant.*
- A recipient of a GAP grant.
- A contractor, subcontractor, or subgrantee of a GAP grant.
- A Regional or Headquarters EPA employee responsible for management and oversight of GAP.

*General Assistance Agreements include both cooperative agreements and grants. Most EPA employees and Tribes who work with GAP refer to the assistance agreements as "GAP grants," so this is the language used in these guidelines.

B) Do these guidelines replace the 1994 GAP guidance?

Yes. These guidelines replace the document titled "Interim Final Guidance on the Award and Management of General Assistance Agreements for Indian Tribes" (July 19, 1994).

C) Do these guidelines establish binding requirements?

Yes. This document provides the national policy guidelines and criteria for the award and administration of GAP grants. It reflects statutory and regulatory requirements and, in some instances, establishes new binding requirements that have not been announced previously.

D) When are these guidelines effective?

These guidelines are effective immediately.

E) Under what authority does EPA award GAP grants?

EPA awards GAP grants under the authority of the Indian Environmental General Assistance Program Act of 1992, as amended (42 U.S.C. §4368b).

F) What regulations govern the award and administration of GAP grants?

The regulations at 40 CFR Part 35, Subpart Q (§§35.10000 and 35.10035, see <u>http://www.epa.gov/indian/laws3.htm</u>) govern the award and administration of GAP grants. These regulations apply to all GAP grantees and subgrantees.

In addition, the regulations at 40 CFR Part 31 ("Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local Governments," see

http://www.epa.gov/docs/epacfr40/chapt-Linfo/subch-B/) apply to GAP grantees and subgrantees that are Indian Tribes or Intertribal consortia. Even if an Intertribal consortium is incorporated as a nonprofit organization under State and Tribal law, it must follow the regulations at 40 CFR Part 31 (see 40 CFR §31.4 and the definition of local government at 40 CFR §31.3). Subgrantees that are not Indian Tribes or Intertribal consortia must follow the regulations at 40 CFR Part 30 ("Grants and Agreements with Institutions of Highter Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-Profit Organizations") (see 40 CFR §30.5).

G) Are there other EPA grant regulations and OMB Circulars that apply to GAP grants?

Yes. GAP grants are also subject to the following EPA grant regulations and OMB Circulars:

- 40 CFR Part 7, Non-Discrimination in Programs Receiving Federal Assistance from EPA http://www.epa.gov/docs/epacfr40/chapt-I.info/subch-A/
- 40 CFR Part 32, Government-Wide Debarment and Suspension (Non-Procurement) and Government-Wide Requirements for Drug-Free Workplace; Clean Air Act and Clean Water Act Ineligibility of Facilities in Performance of Federal Contracts, Grants and Loans http://www.epa.gov/docs/epacfr40/chapt-I.info/subch-B/
- 40 CFR Part 34, New Restriction on Lobbying <u>http://www.epa.gov/docs/epacfr40/chapt-I.info/subch-B/</u>
- OMB Circular A-102, Grants and Cooperative Agreements with State and Local Governments
- OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations
- The OMB Circulars are available at http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars/index.html.

H) What definitions are applicable?

Grant means an award of financial assistance, including cooperative agreements, in the form of money, or property in lieu of money, by the Federal Government to an eligible grantee (40 CFR §31.3). For more information on when to use a grant or a cooperative agreement, see EPA Order 5700.1.

Indian Tribal government means any Indian Tribe, band, nation, or other organized group or community, including any Alaska Tribe (see section III (D)), which is recognized as eligible by the United States Department of the Interior for the special services provided by the United States to Indians because of their status as Indians (meaning federally recognized).

Intertribal Consortium or Consortia means a partnership between two or more Indian Tribal governments that is authorized by the governing bodies of those Tribes to apply for and receive assistance under GAP. An Intertribal consortium must have adequate documentation of the existence of the partnership and the authorization of the member Tribes to apply for and receive assistance.

II. THE PURPOSE OF GAP AND ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

A) What is the purpose of the GAP program?

The primary purpose of GAP is to support the development of elements of a core Tribal environmental protection program. In order to achieve this goal, the Tribes, with EPA's assistance, should work to do the following:

- Identify baseline environmental needs in order to build capacity to administer an environmental program or develop a Tribal environmental program that is tailored to individual Tribal needs.
- Establish the administrative, legal, technical and enforcement capability of Tribes to develop and implement a Tribal environmental program, including the capacity to manage EPA-delegated programs.
- Foster compliance with federal environmental statues by developing appropriate Tribal environmental programs, ordinances and public education and outreach programs.
- Establish a Tribal communications capability to work with Federal, State, Local, Tribal and other environmental officials.
- Establish the Tribal capacity to develop and implement management programs through program-specific assistance.

B) What can GAP grantees do with GAP grants?

The purpose of GAP is to assist Tribes in building the basic infrastructure of a Tribal environmental program, which may include planning, developing, and establishing the administrative, technical, legal, enforcement, communications, and environmental education and outreach infrastructure. Planning an environmental protection program may include setting goals and designing an approach for the program. Developing an environmental protection program may include progressing from plans on paper to actions that help establish the program. Establishing an environmental protection program may include working out the glitches of the development phase, performing a "test drive" of the program, and making the program. Activities that modify or enhance existing systems are fundable so long as they constitute planning, developing or establishing, not implementing, an environmental protection program.

The determination as to whether a particular activity is eligible for GAP funding will often depend on the specific facts. For example, not all planning activities are eligible under GAP; they are only eligible if they are for the purpose of planning, developing or establishing an environmental protection program. Following is a general list of activities that may be accomplished with GAP funds, provided the activities are for the purpose of planning, developing or establishing

environmental protection programs or to develop environmental programs. This list is meant to provide ideas and guidelines, but is not all-inclusive.

- Develop an administrative system to include:
 - development of proposals for other environmental grants in accordance with the requirements in Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-87. In order to charge proposal costs directly to a GAP grant (as opposed to treating the cost as an indirect cost), the Tribe must have prior written approval from EPA.;
 - procedures for accounting, auditing, evaluating, reviewing, and reporting in accordance with 40 CFR Part 31;
 - computer systems and Internet service for grant management; and
 - procurement procedures in compliance with the procurement provisions of 40 CFR §31.36 and 40 CFR §35.10035.
- Develop technical capability to manage environmental programs including:
 - Identify and perform a baseline assessment of non-mobile and mobile sources of pollution;
 - Develop quality assurance and quality control systems including Quality Assurance Program and Project (QAPP) Plans that are for the purpose of planning, developing, and establishing an environmental protection program. Implementing or carrying out a QAPP plan is not fundable under GAP, except when a QAPP is required in order to carry out activities approved in the GAP grant work plan;
 - Develop adequate sampling and laboratory capabilities, including the purchase of equipment and hardware necessary to carry out approved GAP grant activities;
 - Develop computer systems and provide Internet service for compiling and evaluating environmental monitoring data and facilities compliance data to ensure that the data is current, accurate, and can be submitted to EPA in a format compatible for integration into EPA databases;
 - Develop qualifications and training needs for environmental management personnel relative to the Tribe's program needs and plan for program implementation, including planning for and implementation of a training program to address technical competency and capability. Training activities may include, but are not limited to training the employees of a Tribe or an Intertribal consortium to conduct inspections, environmental assessments and monitoring, and NEPA analyses in order to develop or establish a relevant environmental protection program; and

- ▶ Develop an environmental emergency response system (not general 911-related response).
- Develop integrated approaches to environmental protection and natural resource management, such as the development of Integrated Resource Management Plans (IRMP), which fully reflect both Tribal environmental and natural resource management goals and objectives, within the limitations of GAP. For example, developing IRMP components such as water quality assessments and species inventories are allowable so long as they are for the purpose of planning, developing or establishing an environmental protection program. Natural resource assessment and development activities for commercial purposes, such as forestry, fisheries, and minerals, water, or energy resources are not allowed under GAP. (For more information on IRMPs, see http://snake1.cr.usgs.gov/bofrp/irmp.html or contact Don Hall, National Integrated Resource Management Coordinator, at (303) 969-5270 x236 or dhall@snake1.cr.usgs.gov.)
- Develop the legal infrastructure (codes, regulations, ordinances and standards, and policies and guidances) to implement environmental protection programs.
- Develop enforcement programs to ensure compliance including the development of inventory, monitoring and inspection schemes.
- Develop a communications plan to include communications with:
 - Tribal executives to assure knowledge of and responsiveness to program needs (technical, administrative, and legal);
 - the regulated community to assure knowledge of and responsiveness to regulatory requirements;
 - inter-governmental communications with regard to coordination for issues of mutual interest and possibilities for cooperative efforts; and
 - the community to assure knowledge of, need for, and compliance or cooperation with the implementation of various environmental protection programs.
- Develop materials, information and plans for environmental education/public outreach programs for community members (including Tribal leaders and business and civic organizations).
- Identify multi-jurisdictional opportunities including:
 - ▶ feasibility for intergovernmental (Tribal, Federal, State, Local) cooperative efforts; and

 planning for and development of cooperative arrangements and plans with intergovernmental agencies and other public organizations.

C) Can GAP funds be used for construction?

Generally, GAP funds cannot be used for construction. Since the principal focus of this program is on the development of general Tribal environmental capability, assistance will not be provided under this program for construction of specific facilities. The National Program Manager, the American Indian Environmental Office (AIEO), will determine on a case-by-case basis whether the construction activity is necessary to plan, develop, or establish a Tribal environmental protection program. For example, for a Tribe to develop a core Tribal environmental protection program it is necessary for the Tribe to have a place for staff to work. If rental space is not available, it may be necessary to construct office space or buy a modular building and move it to an appropriate location. Requests from grantees for such activities must be evaluated by the Regional Program Manager and referred to the Director of AIEO with full justification for recommended approval or non-approval of the request including provisions for compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). AIEO will make the determination within 30 days and in consultation with the appropriate program offices and the Office of General Counsel. For information on what happens to the title of a building that was paid for with GAP funds following completion of the grant, see 40 CFR §31.31.

Examples of construction activities not allowed include, but are not limited to, landfill construction, recycling facility construction, wastewater treatment facility construction, construction, operation and maintenance of sanitary facilities, construction related to implementation of best management practices for nonpoint source pollution control in a watershed, or purchase of construction equipment such as trucks and compactors or graders.

D) Can GAP funds be used to lease or purchase a vehicle for use in developing an environmental program?

Yes. GAP funds may be used to lease or purchase a vehicle for use in developing an environmental program under OMB Circular A-87. In the work plan, the grantee must justify the need for a vehicle and compare the cost of leasing or purchasing a vehicle to determine the most cost-effective alternative. Following an award for lease or purchase of a vehicle, the grantee must keep adequate records (pursuant to 40 CFR Part 31 and OMB Circular A-87) of the vehicle usage to ensure it is reasonable and necessary to carry out the GAP grant activities. For information on what happens to a vehicle that was purchased after the GAP grant is completed, see 40 CFR §31.32.

E) Can GAP funds be used to develop Geographic Information Systems (GIS)?

Yes, if it is necessary to build the Tribe's capacity to run environmental programs. Using GIS for surveying a commercial purchase of land or in support of current litigation are not activities that can be funded by GAP.

F) Can GAP funds be used to implement solid waste and hazardous waste programs?

No, not under current regulations. The list of eligible activities in the current GAP regulations does not include implementation of solid and hazardous waste programs

(40 CFR §35.10020). This reflects a policy decision that EPA made in 1993 (when the current GAP regulations were promulgated) to limit the use of GAP funds for solid and hazardous waste programs to the planning, developing and establishing stages, despite the explicit statutory authority to use GAP funds for implementation of solid and hazardous waste programs. However, the proposed rule for Environmental Program Grants for Indian Tribes (to be codified at 40 CFR Part 35, Subpart B), which includes regulations for GAP grants that would supersede the current regulation, would allow GAP funds to be used for implementation of solid and hazardous waste programs. If that part of the rule is made final, these activities will be allowable under GAP.

G) Can GAP funds be used to plan, design, construct or operate a wastewater treatment facility or drinking water facility?

No. Planning, designing, constructing and operating such facilities are implementation activities; therefore, they are not eligible for funding under GAP. Associated feasibility studies and NEPA reviews, including environmental impact studies and assessments, are part of the planning phase of facility construction; therefore, they are implementation activities not eligible for funding under GAP. These activities may be funded under other EPA and Indian Health Service (IHS) grant programs.

H) Can GAP funds be used to develop programs to manage and oversee wastewater treatment or drinking water facilities?

Yes. GAP funds may be used for planning, developing, and establishing Tribal administrative programs to manage and oversee facility construction and operation.

I) Can GAP funds be used to plan, develop or establish environmental protection programs not regulated by EPA?

Yes. The Act explicitly authorizes GAP funds to be used to plan, develop and establish the capability to implement programs administered by EPA, but it also explicitly authorizes GAP funds to be used "to cover the costs of planning, developing, and establishing environmental protection programs consistent

with other applicable provisions of law providing for enforcement of such laws by Indian Tribes on Indian lands" (42 U.S.C. §4368b (d)(1)).

For example, protection of environmental cultural resources is not regulated by EPA, but a Tribe could use GAP funds to develop a program to clear out exotic plant species that are disturbing the historical ecosystem or re-establish native plant species. (GAP funds may not be used to fund activities related to cultural resources unrelated to environmental protection, such as the repatriation of Native American cultural items, which is funded under the Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act of 1990.)

J) Can GAP funds be used for baseline environmental assessments or monitoring?

Yes, if establishing the baseline environmental conditions or monitoring is necessary to plan, develop, or establish a Tribal environmental program. However, GAP funds cannot be used for a baseline or other assessment or monitoring that is for the principal purpose of solving particular problems at particular places. An assessment that is conducted over more than one year may be necessary to establish the baseline environmental conditions for the purpose of planning, developing or establishing an environmental program. Monitoring in support of implementing programs is not eligible for funding under GAP. The Tribe should seek program specific grants for monitoring in support of program implementation. GAP funds may supplement program-specific grants by supporting employee training related to monitoring or the purchase of necessary monitoring equipment.

K) Can GAP funds be used to develop a system of permitting or licensing fees?

Yes. Tribes may use GAP funds to develop regulations which require licensing, permitting, or inspection fees and fines and penalties for violations of Tribal environmental laws, but GAP funds cannot be used to implement or enforce such regulations or collect fees, fines or penalties.

L) Can GAP funds be used to prepare program eligibility application packages?

Yes. GAP funds may be used to prepare the program eligibility application packages (formerly known as "treatment as a State" (TAS)) required for certain EPA grant programs or program authorizations, including the demonstration of jurisdiction (see restriction below regarding jurisdiction). The purpose of GAP is to build Tribal capacity to manage environmental programs, therefore a Tribe may conduct eligible GAP activities for the dual purpose of building the Tribe's environmental program and fulfilling the eligibility requirements. However, GAP funds may not be used to pay legal fees associated with litigation to resolve jurisdictional disputes.

M) Can GAP funds be used to conduct demonstration projects?

Yes. GAP funds can be used to conduct demonstration projects so long as the purpose of the project is to plan, develop, or establish a Tribal environmental program. A demonstration project involves new or experimental technologies, methods, or approaches and the results of the project must be disseminated so that others can benefit from the knowledge gained through the demonstration project. The duration of a demonstration project depends on how long it takes for the particular project to yield results of the experimental technologies, methods or approaches and to disseminate those results, but no demonstration project should exceed five years (see 40 CFR §40.125-1).

III. THE APPLICATION PROCESS

A) Who is eligible for a GAP grant?

Eligible grantees include either of the following:

- A federally recognized Indian Tribal government.*
- Authorized Intertribal consortium.*

* See section I (E) for definitions.

B) What are the eligibility requirements for an Intertribal consortium?

An Intertribal consortium is eligible to receive a GAP grant if the consortium demonstrates that (1) a majority of its members meets the eligibility requirements for GAP grants; (2) all members that meet the eligibility requirements authorize the consortium to apply for and receive the grant; and (3) only members that meet the eligibility requirements will benefit directly from the grant project and the consortium agrees to a grant condition to that effect.

An Intertribal consortium must have adequate documentation of the existence of the partnership and the authorization of the member Tribes to apply for and receive assistance. Documentation that demonstrates the existence of the partnership of Indian Tribal governments may consist of Tribal council resolutions, Intertribal consortia resolutions in conjunction with a Tribal council resolution from each member Tribe, or other written certification from a duly authorized representative of each Tribal government that clearly demonstrates that a partnership of Indian Tribal governments exists. Documentation that demonstrates that member Tribes authorize the consortium to apply for and receive assistance may consist of a Tribal council resolution from each Tribe or other written certification from a duly authorize the consortium to apply for and receive assistance may consist of a Tribal council resolution from each Tribe or other written certification from a duly authorize the consortium to apply for and receive the grant on behalf of the Tribe. An Intertribal consortium resolution is not adequate documentation of the member Tribes authorized representative of each Tribal government.

C) Must a Tribe or an Intertribal Consortium have land to get a GAP grant?

No. A Tribe or Intertribal consortium does not have to have land to get a GAP grant. Although the Tribe or Intertribal consortium may not have a land base, it <u>can</u> still plan, develop or establish environmental protection programs, including environmental education and outreach programs.

D) Are Alaska Tribes eligible for GAP grants?

Yes. For the purposes of these guidelines, the term "Alaska Tribe" refers to those 227 Alaska Native entities included in the list of "federally-recognized" Indian Tribes as published by the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) (see "Native Entities Within the State of Alaska Recognized and Eligible to Receive Services from the United States Bureau of Indian Affairs" 63 FR 71941 (December 30, 1998)). These Alaska Tribes enjoy the same legal status as other federally recognized Tribes in the Lower 48 States.

The term "Alaska Native village" is sometimes used as a synonym for: "Alaska Tribes;" any of the various Native entities in Alaska (federally recognized and non-federally recognized); or a geographic area occupied by Natives. The Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act (ANCSA) (43 U.S.C. §1601) provides the following definition for a "Native Village;"

any tribe, band, clan, group, village, community, or association in Alaska listed in sections 11 and 16 of the Act [43 U.S.C.S. §1610 and §1615], or which meets the requirements of the Act, and which the Secretary determines was, on the 1970 census enumeration date (as shown by the census or other evidence satisfactory to the Secretary, who shall make findings of fact in each instance) composed of twenty-five or more Natives (43 USCA 1602(c)).

This definition served to identify those Native entities that were assigned village corporations upon passage of ANCSA. This further confuses things in that it suggests that "Native villages" are equivalent to "village corporations." For these reasons, the term "Alaska Native village" is not used in these guidelines. The reader, however, may see this term used in various regulations and statutes.

E) Are Alaska Native regional or village corporations eligible for GAP grants?

No. It is important to understand that the Alaska Tribes and the regional or village corporations are not equivalent. Alaska Tribes are federally recognized Tribal governments and are thus eligible for GAP. Only Indian Tribal governments and Intertribal consortia made up of Indian Tribal governments are eligible for GAP grants and Alaska Native regional or village corporations are neither an Indian Tribal government nor an Intertribal consortium because they are not federally recognized. EPA means no disrespect to the individual Tribal members of the corporations, but we are limited by statute as to which entities may receive GAP grants.

The Act defines Indian Tribal government as;

any Indian tribe, band, nation, or other organized group or community, including any Alaska Native village or regional or village corporation (as defined in, or established pursuant to, the Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act (43 U.S.C.A. §1601, et seq.)), which is recognized as eligible for the special services provided by the United States to Indians because of their status as Indians (42 U.S.C. §4368b (c)(1)).

The Act's inclusion of Alaska Native regional or village corporations in the definition of "Indian Tribal government" creates confusion because they are explicitly included in the definition of Indian Tribal government, yet no such corporation is federally recognized, which is also part of the definition of Indian Tribal governments. The regional and village corporations are State-chartered legal entities established by the Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act (ANCSA) (43 U.S.C. §1601) for the purpose of conducting business transactions. Regional and village corporations are not eligible for GAP grants because they are not federally recognized governments. However, the regional and village corporations have been designated as "Tribes" for the purposes of some Federal laws, primarily the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (ISDA).

Although Alaska Native regional and village corporations are not eligible for GAP grants, an Alaska Tribe receiving a GAP grant may award a subcontract or subgrant to a village or regional corporation (just as they could to any other business), in accordance with EPA's regulations governing subcontracts and subgrants.

F) Are Alaska regional nonprofit corporations eligible for GAP?

Yes, but only if these regional nonprofit corporations meet the eligibility requirements of an Intertribal consortium, in which case they would be eligible for a GAP grant as an Intertribal consortium (see section III (B) above), not as an Alaska regional nonprofit corporation. Over the last 75 years, Alaska Tribes formed nonprofit corporations as a vehicle to receive funding to address issues of concern to the Tribes, such as health and environmental issues. These nonprofit corporations are distinct from the village and regional corporations established under ANCSA (see section III (E) above).

G) What is the application process for a GAP grant?

Eligible grantees must submit a work plan and fill out Standard Form 424–"Application for Federal Assistance: State and Local Non-Construction Programs" and provide all required certifications. For more information on the application process and the Regional application deadlines, contact the Regional GAP contacts (see Appendix) and see <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/OMB/grants/index.html</u>.

H) What are the minimum GAP grant work plan requirements?

The work plan is the basis for the management and evaluation of performance under the grant agreement. The work plan must contain the following:

- The work plan components to be funded under the grant;
- The estimated work years and funding amounts for each work plan component;
- The work plan commitments for each work plan component, and a time frame for their accomplishment;
- A performance evaluation process and reporting schedule in accordance with section IV (A and B);
- The roles and responsibilities of the recipient and EPA in carrying out the work plan commitments;
- Quality assurance documentation (see below).

I) What quality assurance documentation is required?

GAP grantees are subject to the quality assurance requirements in 40 CFR §31.45, which state the following:

If the grantee's project involves environmentally related measurements or data generation, the grantee shall develop and implement quality assurance practices consisting of policies, procedures, specifications, standards, and documentation sufficient to produce data of quality adequate to meet project objectives and to minimize loss of data due to out-of-control conditions or malfunction.

In addition, it is EPA policy that all environmental programs performed through EPA-funded extramural agreements (including GAP grants) must be supported by individual quality systems that comply fully with the American National Standard ANSI/ASQC E4-1994, *Specifications and Guidelines for Quality Systems for Environmental Data Collection and Environmental Technology Programs*. ANSI/ASQC E4-1994 is a national standard authorized by the American National Standards Institute (ANSI) and developed by the American Society for Quality Control (ASQC) (EPA Order 5360.1 CHG 1, July 16, 1998). For more information, see http://es.epa.gov/ncerqa/qa/index.html. Grantees should also contact their Regional GAP contacts (see Appendix) to see if there are specific Regional guidelines. For example, see Region 9's home page at

http://www.epa.gov/region09/qa/indian-tribe.html and http://www.epa.gov/region09/qa/tribes-fs.html.

J) How much is a GAP grant award?

An initial GAP grant must be for a minimum of \$75,000. A grant amendment may be for an amount more or less than \$75,000 (40 CFR §35.10025(a)). No single grant awarded under this program may be for an amount exceeding ten percent of the total annual funds appropriated under section 11(h) of the Act (40 CFR §35.10025(b)).

K) Is a match required for a GAP grant?

No. The GAP does not require grantees to provide any share of project costs.

L) What is the project period of a GAP grant?

Project period is the length of time specified in the assistance agreement for completion of all project work. The project period of a GAP grant cannot be longer than four years (42 U.S.C. §4368a(d)(3)). If the project period established in the assistance agreement is less than four years, the grantee may later request an amendment to extend the project period if the grant has not already met the four-year project period limit.

M) What is the funding period of a GAP grant?

The funding period (also known as the budget period) is the period of time specified in the grant agreement during which the recipient may obligate funds for the purposes specified in the agreement. All obligated funds must be expended no later than 90 days after the end of the funding period. If obligated funds cannot be expended by the deadline, a grantee may request an extension of time (providing adequate justification) to liquidate the obligations (40 CFR §31.23).

N) Can GAP grantees apply for a new GAP grant at the end of their current GAP grant project period?

Yes, even if the project period of their current GAP grant is four years. Grantees should apply for a new GAP grant at least 60 days before the end of the project period of their current GAP grant. If the project period of the grantees's current GAP grant is less than four years, the grantee can apply for another GAP grant at the end of the project period or request an amendment to increase the project period to a maximum of four years. Grantees should contact their Regional GAP contacts (see Appendix) for information on Regional GAP grant application deadlines.

O) Is a grantee guaranteed a subsequent GAP grant?

No. Funding for GAP grants is provided on a yearly or other basis. Applications must be submitted and evaluated for each new or amended GAP grant. The Regional Program Manager will consider the amount of GAP funds appropriated to EPA, the grantee's past performance and work plan quality to determine whether additional funding will be awarded.

P) Can a grantee get a GAP grant for a project or activity that is already funded by another EPA grant?

No. Grantees cannot charge the same task, project or activity to two grants. Grantees can, however, use GAP funds for the same type of activity funded by another grant but <u>only if grantees are **not** doing</u> the same task, project or activity and it is eligible for funding under GAP. This provision is intended to prevent what is often called "double-dipping," to prevent EPA from paying for the same work twice.

IV. GRANTEE MANAGEMENT OF GAP GRANTS

A) What are the grantee financial reporting requirements?

Grantees must comply with the reporting requirements of 40 CFR Part 31 and 40 CFR Part 35, Subpart Q. Grantees must send EPA the following financial reports at least annually:

- -- Financial Status Report (Standard Form 269)
- -- Federal Cash Transactions Report (Standard Form 272, for assistance agreements paid through EPA's Automated Clearinghouse)
- -- Request for Advance or Reimbursement (Standard Form 270, if applicable)
- -- Minority Business Enterprises/Women's Business Enterprises reports (Standard Form 5700-52A). (The EPA is currently working on a MBE/WBE rulemaking that may change requirements applying to Tribal Governments. Grantees should check with their Regional Grants Specialist for current information on MBE/WBE requirements.)

B) What are the grantee performance reporting requirements?

Grantees must comply with the reporting requirements of 40 CFR Part 31 and 40 CFR Part 35, Subpart Q. Grantees must send EPA the following performance reports on a schedule determined by the Project Officer and stated in the work plan, but not less than annually and not more than quarterly:

- -- Summary of GAP grant activities during the reporting period, including status summary, accomplishments, and milestones.
- -- Identification of any problems and a corrective action.
- -- Comparison of funds spent during the reporting period against the planned expenditures in the work plan and an explanation of any discrepancies.
- -- Estimates of the time and funds necessary to complete the project and a comparison of these estimates to the time and funds remaining in the work plan.

In addition to performance reports, grantees should have frequent contact with their Project Officer to keep him/her informed of grantee progress and to resolve any problems that may arise.

C)What cost principles apply to the determination of allowable costs under a GAP grant?

The principles in OMB Circular A-87 (see <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars/index.html</u>) apply to the determination of allowable costs of Indian Tribes or Intertribal consortia. Subgrantees of GAP

grants that are not Indian Tribes or Intertribal consortia should follow the OMB Circular or regulations appplicable to their type of organization (see 40 CFR Part 31.22).

D) What are the grantee purchasing (procurement) procedures?

In general, for purchases of less than \$50,000 grantees should follow the procedures described in 40 CFR 35.10035 and for purchases of \$50,000 and over grantees should follow the procedures in 40 CFR 31.36. A summary of the procedures outlined in these two sections is provided below.

If the aggregate amount of the purchase is	Then grantees must
\$1,000 or less	Demonstrate that the price is reasonable.
Over \$1,000 but less than \$25,000	Obtain and document oral or written price quotations from two or more qualified sources.
\$25,000 and over but less than \$50,000	 Solicit written bids/proposals from two or more sources who are willing and able to do the work; Provide to potential sources a clear and accurate description of the work to be performed; Provide the criteria the recipient will use to evaluate bids/proposals submitted; Objectively evaluate all bids/proposals submitted; and Notify all bidders/proposers.
\$50,000 and over but less than \$100,000	Obtain price or rate quotations from an adequate number of qualified sources.
\$100,000 and over	Follow the procedures in 40 CFR 31.36 (except 40 CFR §31.36 (d)(1)).

E) What are indirect costs and how are they charged to a GAP grant?

Indirect costs are the costs that are incurred for a common or joint purpose benefitting more than one cost objective, that are not readily assignable to the cost objectives specifically benefitted, without effort disproportionate to the results achieved. An example is electricity for the Tribal environmental office. Indirect costs should be charged to the GAP grant in accordance with OMB Circular A-87, in particular, attachments C, D, and E and the Tribe's approved indirect cost rate agreement (usually negotiated with the Bureau of Indian Affairs). Indirect costs should be distributed to benefitted cost objectives on bases that will produce an equitable result in consideration of relative benefits derived. For more information on allowable costs, see OMB Circular A-87, "Cost Principles for State, Local, and Indian Tribal Governments" available at http://www.whitehouse.gov/OMB/circulars/a087-all.html.

F) Are GAP grants subject to intergovernmental review?

No. GAP grants are not subject to intergovernmental review.

G) Can GAP grantees be audited by EPA?

Yes. Grantees must comply with OMB Circular A-133 and the auditing requirements of 40 CFR Part 31 including Parts 31.26, 31.36, and 31.42. The EPA Office of Inspector General can perform an audit of the GAP at any time.

V. INFORMATION FOR EPA MANAGEMENT OF GAP

A) What are the responsibilities of a GAP Project Officer?

The Project Officer is the EPA official designated in the GAP grant as EPA's program contact with the recipient. EPA employees must be certified as Project Officers through EPA's standardized Project Officer training program before they can be a project officer for a GAP grant. For questions on the responsibilities of a Project Officer, refer to the training manual entitled "Managing Your Financial Assistance Agreement: Project Officer Responsibilities" (EPA document number 202-B-96-002, October 1996).

B) What is the Regional process for awarding GAP grants?

The Regional Program Manager (RPM) (see section VI (B)) will issue a call letter during the first quarter of each fiscal year notifying eligible recipients of the availability of assistance, including instruction on the need to reapply for Tribes currently receiving assistance. The RPM will allocate funds to eligible recipients in accordance with the procedures established in these guidelines. The RPM may establish supplemental Regional guidelines and criteria consistent with these guidelines and with consideration of the environmental protection goals of the nation, Region and Tribes. Regional guidelines and criteria for grantee selection (e.g., health and ecological risk assessment of the reservation, past performance, etc.) and work plan requirements including expected outputs. Any such guidelines or criteria must be submitted to the American Indian Environmental Office.

C) How are GAP funds distributed among the Regions?

As the National Program Manager, the American Indian Environmental Office (AIEO) is responsible for distribution of the national GAP funds to the EPA Regional Offices. AIEO distributes the funds using a formula that considers the Tribal land base, number of Tribes, and Tribal population in each Region. Each year AIEO will issue a decision memorandum on the distribution of GAP funds to the Regions by January 31. For more specific information on how Tribes are counted for funding purposes or award amounts to each Region, refer to these memoranda. In addition to the funds awarded by the Regions, some funds will be held by AIEO (referred to as "GAP set-aside" funds) to support specific Tribal or Tribal consortia projects that have national application or address a national program need identified by AIEO. Upon selection by AIEO, the Regions will award the funds under GAP. As of fiscal year (FY) 2001, AIEO will send out a request for proposals for set-aside projects on the same schedule as other GAP projects (January 31).

In addition to the GAP set-aside funds awarded through AIEO, EPA's Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response (OSWER) has contributed to the GAP account for FY 1999 and FY 2000 to create a \$500K Tribal set-aside for awarding GAP grants that support planning, developing and establishing Tribal solid and hazardous waste programs. The grantees for these GAP grants are chosen by OSWER.

D) What is the availability of funds?

Congress provides GAP funding to EPA through the State and Tribal Assistance Grants (STAG) Appropriation. This account is a no-year appropriation, meaning that funds are available for obligation without fiscal year limitation. However, AIEO strongly encourages all GAP managers to obligate GAP funds within the fiscal year in which they were appropriated. AIEO must approve all requests to carryover GAP funds beyond the fiscal year in which the funds were appropriated.

Funds awarded under GAP remain available until expended in accordance with the project period of the award (e.g., 1 to 4 years). Note however, that for a GAP grant with a 4-year project period: monies awarded in the first year remain available through all four years; monies awarded in the second year remain available through the remaining three years; monies awarded in the third year remain available through the remaining two years; and monies awarded in the fourth year are available only in that year. Project Officers should establish a tracking system on a per-grant basis to assure that grantee spending coincides with the project period.

E) Can EPA program-specific funds be reprogrammed* into GAP?

Yes. Program-specific funds or other funds included in EPA's State and Tribal Assistance Grant appropriation for grants to States, Tribes, Intertribal consortia, and air pollution control agencies for pollution prevention control and abatement, may be reprogrammed into GAP subject to Congressional guidance on reprogrammings. In recent years, EPA has operated under a limitation of \$500,000 on reprogrammings without Appropriations Committee notification. This limitation is not cumulative for the year, but applies incrementally to reprogramming activities undertaken for a specific purpose. In other words, reprogrammings that involve a particular program results code (PRC) are not cumulative if each reprogramming is done for a different stated purpose. However, PRC reprogrammings done for the *same stated purpose* are cumulative at the Agency level. EPA has agreed to notify the Appropriations Committee prior to each reprogramming of funds in excess of the limitation between programs (media) or PRCs. In conjunction with the Annual Planning and Budget Division, the American Indian Environmental Office (AIEO) will monitor the status and amount of any regional reprogrammings into/out of GAP to determine if they are cumulative in excess of the \$500,000 limitation. Prior to initiating any reprogrammings, the Regional Program Manager (RPM) must submit their request by

separate memorandum to AIEO. These requests need to include an informative purpose statement (justification), the amount of funds and the affected media programs and corresponding PRCs. For shift of funds less than the \$500,000 limitation, AIEO will notify the RPMs of approval, after which the RPM may enter the reprogrammings into the Integrated Financial Management System (IFMS). If the need to reprogram funds in excess of the limitation occurs, AIEO will consult with the Planning & Budget Division for guidance on current procedures such as format, content and timing for providing Congressional notification. These proposed reprogrammings should not be entered into the Agency's IFMS until the Agency receives approval from the Appropriations Committee, and, in turn, AIEO forwards this approval to the Regions.

* A reprogramming is any movement of dollars or FTEs (Full Time Equivalent) in the Operating Plan, including any change into or out of a PRC (see above) or budget object class (Administrative Control of Appropriated Funds, Release 1.0 (7/16/97)).

F) Are GAP grants subject to the policies and guidances issued by the Grants Administration Division?

Yes. GAP grants are subject to the policies and guidances issued for EPA's assistance agreements by the Grants Administration Division (GAD). GAP Project Officers should consult with the Regional grants management office on all administrative matters related to the grant.

G) Is GAP subject to EPA Order 5700.2 on Streamlining Small Grants?

No. GAP is exempt from EPA Order 5700.2.

H) What should a GAP Project Officer do if a grant has reached the end of a four-year project period?

When a GAP grant reaches the end of a four year project period, the GAP project officer must close out the grant. Close out is the process that ensures all technical work and administrative requirements (such as final accounting of expenditures) have been finalized. For more information on the closeout process, see "Managing Your Financial Assistance Agreement: Project Officer Responsibilities" (EPA document number EPA 202-B-96-002, October 1996). Tribes may apply for a new GAP grant and should do so at least 60 days before the end of the four-year project period. Grantees should contact their Regional GAP contacts (see Appendix) for information on Regional GAP grant application deadlines.

I) Can a Regional Grants Management Office award or close out a grant for which the Tribe or Tribal consortium does not have an approved indirect cost rate*?

Yes. For those Tribes or Intertribal consortium that have applied for but have not received an approved indirect cost rate* from the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA), the following is applicable:

- If a Tribe or Intertribal consortium has an indirect cost rate negotiated by BIA that has expired, the Tribe or Intertribal consortium may use that rate until a new rate is established.
- If a new rate is not established before the end of the project and budget period the old rate will be used to close the grant.
- If a Tribe or Intertribal consortium has never had an indirect cost rate and their application is pending with BIA, the Agency may use the requested rate in the pending application until a rate is established.
- A Tribe or Intertribal consortium must have a pending indirect cost application with BIA to use an expired rate or the rate in the pending application.

A Tribe or Intertribal consortium may also choose to waive their indirect cost rate and not charge this cost to their GAP grant.

* The indirect cost rate determines the proportion of indirect costs each program should bear and is the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of the indirect cost to a direct cost base (OMB Circular A-87). See section IV (E) for an explanation of indirect costs.

J) What should a GAP Project Officer do with unexpended funds?

If a Project Officer is ready to close out a GAP grant and there are funds that were obligated but that the Tribe did not spend (unexpended funds), the Project Officer may deobligate the funds and the money will return to the Regional Tribal program for reallocation within the GAP account.

VI. REGIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES FOR GAP MANAGEMENT

A) What are the Regional reporting requirements?

The Regional Administrator or his/her delegee must send AIEO an annual tracking matrix and narrative report for all funds and activities included under the GAP grants, in consultation with the appropriate Regional program offices. This annual matrix and report will be based on the grantee performance reports (see Grantee Management of GAP Grants section above). The tracking matrix and narrative report must be submitted by January 31 for the activities of the previous fiscal year (FY). These reports provide a mechanism for evaluating the environmental performance brought about by GAP, for reporting to Congress, and for ensuring the Agency provides the technical assistance and oversight needed to ensure and enhance successful program development.

The tracking matrix, which is currently being developed by AIEO, will include the following information for each grant:

- The name of the grantee(s), including all Tribes included in any consortium for each grant.
- A cumulative summary of GAP grant funds received in all the past years, with the exception of funds allocated in the fiscal year in which the annual report is written. This information will be used by AIEO to write the annual GAP progress report, and to demonstrate to Congress the environmental benefits of the program based on past investments.
- Summary of Tribal program goals through the end of the previous fiscal year. These may include milestones the Tribal program plans to develop, or proposed intergovernmental agreements or plans. This information will be used by AIEO to develop future priority budget requests, assist in discussions with Programmatic National Program Managers regarding their investment in program-specific Tribal grants, and identifying potential focus areas for national GAP set-aside funding.
- Summary of capacity-building milestones and accomplishments through the end of the previous
 fiscal year. For example: codes/regulations that have been developed; environmental assessments
 completed; media program grants received; training completed; or public outreach or education
 conducted. This information will be used by AIEO to: write the annual GAP progress report;
 demonstrate to Congress the environmental benefits of the program based on past investments;
 assist in discussions with Programmatic National Program Managers regarding their investment in
 program-specific Tribal grants; verify Baseline Assessment project data, facilitate information
 exchange among Regions and Tribes; and identify trends and progress in specific media areas.

The narrative report must include a Regional summary of the following:

- Discussion of issues of Regional or national significance identified through a specific GAP grant and/or overall management of the Regional program. AIEO will use this information to identify issues needing national policy discussions, clarifications or decisions.
- Overall statement of environmental benefits resulting from the Regional GAP program. AIEO will use this information to support EPA's reporting under the Government Performance and Results Act and in writing the annual GAP progress report.

In addition to the information in the annual report, AIEO needs the information described below biannually to comply with reporting requirements under the Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA); once by the second Friday of March and once by November 30.

For FY 2000 only:

- ▶ The number of Tribes with program delegated/approved environmental programs;
- \bullet The number of program delegations/approvals; and
- ► The number of EPA/Tribal Environmental Agreements (TEAs);

For FY 2000 and after:

▶ The number of Tribes and Intertribal consortia with GAP grants;

- ► The number of partnerships between the Tribes and EPA for managing the environment in Indian country; and
- ▶□ The number of EPA actions authorizing program implementation in Indian country by Tribes.

The numbers reported are the incremental increases from the prior fiscal year. The first three measures listed above will be in place through FY 2000. Beginning in FY 2001, these three measures will be replaced by the last three measures listed above. Therefore, for FY 2000 only, AIEO needs the Regions to report biannually on all six items listed above. Beginning in FY 2001, the Regions will only have to report biannually on the last three measures. The GPRA reporting requirements may change in future years. Regions should consult AIEO's GPRA coordinator for any changes to the listed GPRA reporting requirements.

If a Region does not submit the annual tracking matrix and narrative report, AIEO may choose not to release Regional funds until the report is received. AIEO will supply copies of these Regional reports to Programmatic National Program Managers upon request. AIEO will supply the Regions with a copy of the annual GAP progress report, which also will be publicly available. On occasion, other reports or information may also be requested by AIEO as may be necessary to advance the GAP program in Agency-wide budget deliberations or respond to Congressional inquiries.

B) What are the responsibilities of the Regional Program Manager?

The Regional Program Manager (RPM) is the Regional Administrator (RA). The RA may delegate these responsibilities to the Division or Office Director level, but must notify AIEO of any such delegation. The responsibilities of the RPM include:

- Approving official for all GAP grants.
- Award official for all GAP grants.
- Serving as the decision official for allocating GAP funds to Tribes.
- Establishing supplemental Regional GAP policy, criteria and guidelines. Any Regional guidelines or criteria that Regions propose to apply to GAP grants awarded after the effective date of these guidelines must be sent to AIEO for review and concurrence.
- Serving as the decision official for waiver of supplemental Regional policy, guidelines and criteria consistent with national policy and statutory requirements.
- Developing and transmitting the recommendation and justification to AIEO for grantee requests for construction activities (see section II (C));
- Designating the Regional GAP administrator and manager and/or GAP management teams. GAP management teams should include representatives from the media programs and the Regional grants management office.
- Developing and implementing the Regional GAP plan for eligible recipients in the Region.

C) What are the responsibilities of the Programmatic Regional Program Managers (PRPMs)?

For the purposes of GAP, the PRPMs include all Division and Office Directors. The PRPM responsibilities include:

- Implementing GAP national policy and guidelines and any Regional supplemental guidelines in order to assist Tribal governments and Intertribal consortia with planning, developing and establishing environmental management programs for their respective areas.
- Coordinating with the Regional Indian Coordinator or other RPM designee on program issues associated with GAP.
- Providing technical assistance to grantees for planning, developing and establishing the appropriate program infrastructure and technical capability for their environmental management program (as appropriate under the terms and conditions of a GAP grant).
- Program implementation activities, as directed by their National Program Managers.
- Assisting and reporting to the Project Officer for GAP grants as appropriate for the management of the GAP grant. This includes providing programmatic expertise to review, approve and monitor program specific GAP work plan task development and implementation.
- Integrating project-specific assistance and program-development assistance into the GAP process for overall capacity building.

D) What are the responsibilities of the Regional Grants Management Offices?

The Regional Grants Management Offices have the following responsibilities:

- Reviewing applications to determine allowability, allocability and reasonableness of proposed costs.
- Preparing and processing final grant agreement.
- Administrative management of the grant.
- Providing technical assistance to grantees with administrative assessment of their infrastructure, such as accounting, procurement, and property management (as appropriate under the terms and conditions of a GAP grant).
- Assisting and coordinating with the Project Officer for GAP grants as appropriate.
- Develop and submit requests to deviate from GAP administrative or program regulations.

E) What are the responsibilities of the Office of Regional Counsel?

The Office of Regional Counsel responsibilities include:

- Resolving legal issues associated with award and administration of GAP grants.
- Providing technical assistance to grantees with the assessment of their legal and enforcement infrastructure for their environmental management programs (as appropriate under the terms and conditions of the GAP grant).
- Assisting the Regional Program Manager, GAP Project Officers and the Regional Grants Management Office as appropriate.
- Legal determinations associated with Regional GAP management in consultation with Office of General Counsel, if appropriate. All legal issues of national significance associated with Regional

policies and guidelines and/or specific GAP grants should be referred to Office of General Counsel for decision.

F) What are the responsibilities of the Regional Finance Offices?

The Regional Finance Office responsibilities include:

- Obligating/dispersing funds for the GAP grants.
- Providing technical assistance to Project Officers and the Regional Grants Management Office.
- Providing technical assistance to grantees with assessment of their financial management infrastructure.

VII. HEADQUARTERS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR GAP MANAGEMENT

A) What are the responsibilities of the National Program Manager?

The National Program Manager is the American Indian Environmental Office (AIEO). AIEO's responsibilities include:

- Establishing national GAP policy and guidelines.
- Coordinating GAP budget development and management among the media programs, administrative offices, program development offices and Regional offices.
- Serving as the decision official for allocation of national GAP funds to the Regions.
- Serving as the decision official for grantee requests for construction activities.
- Approving the disbursement of GAP funds to the Regions.
- Providing national GAP oversight.
- Compiling GAP information for reports to Congress.

B) What are the responsibilities of the Programmatic National Program Managers (PNPMs)?

The PNPMs are the Assistant and Associate Administrators (or their delegees) of the National Program Offices. The responsibilities of the PNPMs include:

- Providing policy and guidance for their respective areas that will assist Indian Tribal governments and Intertribal consortia with planning, developing and establishing environmental management programs.
- Implementing program activities, directly or through their Regional counterparts.
- Providing technical assistance to Regional Program Manager, GAP Project Officers and grantees (as appropriate under terms and conditions of a GAP grant).

C) What are the responsibilities of the Office of General Counsel?

The Office of General Counsel responsibilities include:

- Making all legal determinations of national significance associated with GAP's authorizing statute, regulations and general grant regulations and any other pertinent statute or regulation.
- Consulting and providing assistance to the Office of Regional Counsel in resolution of legal issues, as appropriate.

All determinations should be made in consultation with AIEO.

D) What are the responsibilities of the Office of the Comptroller?

The Office of the Comptroller is responsible for financial management of the GAP funds, including:

- Providing budgeted funds to AIEO.
- Processing reprogramming requests.
- Providing technical assistance to AIEO.

E) What are the responsibilities of the Grants Administration Division (GAD)?

GAD is responsible for:

- Establishing policy and guidance on the administration of GAP grants.
- Reviewing and acting on deviation requests on EPA's grant administration regulations submitted by Regional Grants Management Offices.

APPENDIX

EPA REGIONAL GAP CONTACTS

EPA REGION 1 (CT, ME, NH, RI, VT)

Regional Indian Program Manager: Jim Sappier (617-918-1672) Fax: 617-918-1505

Address: EPA Region I (CSP) 1 Congress Street, Suite 1100 Boston, Ma 02114-2023

Valerie Ferry (617) 918-1674

Robert Goetzl (617) 918-1671

EPA REGION 2 (NJ, NY, PR, VI)

Indian Coordinator: Christine Yost (212-637-3564) yost.christine@epa.gov

Address: EPA Region II (DEPP-TAC) 290 Broadway New York, Ny 10007-1866 Fax: (212) 637-3790

Janice Whitney, Indigenous Environmental Affairs Specialist (212) 637-3790 whitney.janice@epa.gov

EPA REGION 4 (AL, FL, GA, KY, MS, NC, SC, TN)

Indian Coordinator: Mark Robertson (404-562-9639)

Address: EPA Region IV (AMB) 61 Forsyth Street, SW Atlanta, GA 30303-3104

EPA REGION 5 (IL, IN, MI, MN, OH, WI)

Indian Coordinator: Casey Ambutas (312-353-1394)

Address: EPA Region V (5ME-19J) 77 W. Jackson Boulevard Chicago, IL 60604-3590

Michael C. Nishi, GAP Project Officer U.S. Environmental Protection Agency - Region 5 77 West Jackson Boulevard (M-9J) Chicago, Illinois 60604-3590 e-mail: nishi.michael@epa.gov (312)353-8242 Contact for: Bois Forte Band of Chippewa; Fond du Lac Band of Chippewa; Grand Portage Band of Chippewa; Leech Lake Band of Ojibwe; Lower Sioux Indian Community; Mille Lacs Band of Ojibwe

Chippewa; Leech Lake Band of Ojibwe; Lower Sioux Indian Community; Mille Lacs Band of Ojibwe; Minnesota Chippewa Tribe; Prairie Island Indian Community; Red Lake Band of Chippewa; Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community; Upper Sioux Community; and, White Earth Band of Chippewa

Debra Crume-Williams, GAP Project Officer U.S. Environmental Protection Agency - Region 5 77 West Jackson Boulevard (M-9J) Chicago, Illinois 60604-3590 e-mail: crume-williams.debra@epa.gov (312)886-6238 Contact for: Grand Traverse Band of Ottawa and Chippewa; Hannahville Indian Community; Inter-Tribal Council of Michigan, Inc.; Keweenaw Bay Indian Community; Lac Vieux Desert Band of Lake Superior Chippewa; Little Traverse Bay Band of Odawa Indians; Nottawaseppi Huron Band of Potawatomi; Pokagon Band of Potawatomi; Saginaw Chippewa Indian Tribe; Sault Ste. Marie Tribe, Bad River Band of Lake Superior Chippewa; Forest County Potawatomi Community; Ho-Chunk Nation; Lac Courte Oreilles Band of Chippewa; Lac du Flambeau Band of Chippewa; Menominee Indian Tribe of Wisconsin; Oneida Tribe of Wisconsin; Red Cliff Band of Lake Superior Chippewa; Sokaogon Chippewa Community; St. Croix Band of Chippewa; and, Stockbridge-Munsee Community

EPA REGION 6 (AR, LA, NM, OK, TX)

Indian Coordinator: Ellen Greeney (214-665-6778) greeney.ellen@epa.gov See http://www.epa.gov/earth1r6/6xa/tribal/tribal.htm. Address: EPA Region VI (6XA) 1445 Ross Avenue Dallas, TX 75202-2733 Fax: 214-665-2118

Charlotte Runnels, Tribal Liaison 214-665-6442 runnels.charlotte@epa.gov Contact for: Acoma, Isleta, Laguna, Nambe, San Felipe, Sandia, Santa Ana, Santo Domingo, Zia, Zuni, and All Indian Pueblo Council

Paul Whitley, Tribal Liaison 214-665-7454 whitley.paul@epa.gov Contact for: Absentee Shawnee, Alabama-Quassarte, Cherokee, Citizen Potawatomi, Kialegee, Muscogee Creek, Sac and Fox, Seminole, Thlopthlocco, and Inter-Tribal Environmental Council

Al Coy, Tribal Liaison 214-665-2200 coy.al@epa.gov Contact for: Eastern Shawnee, Miami, Modoc, Ottawa, Peoria, Quapaw, Seneca-Cayuga, United Keetoowah Band, Wyandotte, Cochiti, Jemez, and Picuris

Fincher (Jay) Harris, Tribal Liaison 214-665-2260 harris.fincher@epa.gov Contact for: Alabama Coushatta, Citimacha, Coushatta, Jena Band, Jicarilla, Kickapoo, Kickapoo Traditional, Mescalero, Pojoaque, San Juan, Tunica-Biloxi, Ysleta del Sur

Mark Allen, Tribal Liaison 214-665-2719 allen.mark@epa.gov Contact for: Apache, Caddo, Cheyenne-Arapaho, Chickasaw, Choctaw, Comanche, Delaware West, Ft Sill Apache, Kiowa, Wichita and Affiliated, San Ildefonso, Santa Clara, and Southwestern Oklahoma Tribal Environmental Council

Dale Roy, Tribal Liaison 214-665-8065 roy.dale@epa.gov Contact for: Delaware, Iowa, Kaw, Osage, Otoe Missouria, Pawnee, Ponca, Tonkawa, Taos, Tesuque, Eight Northern Pueblo Council, Inter-Tribal Resource Advisory Council

EPA REGION 7 (IA, KS, MO, NE)

Indian Coordinator: Kim Olson (913-551-7539) olson.kim@epa.gov

Address: EPA Region VII (PLMG/POIS) 901 N. 5TH Street Kansas City, KS 66101

EPA REGION 8 (CO, MT, ND, SD, UT)

*Note: For most current information, see http://www.epa.gov.region08/coop/tribe/tapinfo.html.

Tribal Manager: Sadie Hoskie (303-312-6343)

Address: EPA Region VIII (8P-TA) 999 18th Street, Suite 500 Denver, CO 80202-2405

Sue Groves, Tribal Program Manager (303) 312-6068

E-Mail: groves.suzanne@epa.gov

Contact for: Paiute Indian Tribe Skull Valley Band of Goshute Indians Ute Indian Tribe Northwestern Band of the Shoshoni Nation

Randy Brown, Tribal Program Manager (303) 312-6048 E-Mail: <u>brown.randy@epa.gov</u>

Contact for: Standing Rock Sioux Tribe Shoshone and Arapaho Tribes of the Wind River Indian Reservation

Kathy Dolan, Tribal Program Manager (303) 312-6497 E-Mail: <u>dolan.kathy@epa.gov</u> Contact for: Cheyenne River Sioux Tribe Yankton Sioux Tribe

Bernadette Gonzalez, Tribal Program Manager

(303) 312-6072 E-Mail: <u>gonzalez.bernadette@epa.gov</u>

Contact for: Southern Ute Indian Tribe Lower Brule Sioux Tribe Crow Creek Sioux Tribe

Judy Hervig, Tribal Program Manager (303) 312-6290 E-Mail: <u>hervig.judith@epa.gov</u> Contact for: Three Affiliated Tribes of the Fort Berthold Reservation Sisseton-Wahpeton Sioux Nation

Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians

Donna Jackson, Tribal Program Manager (303) 312-6281

E-Mail: jackson.donna@epa.gov

Contact for: Ute Mountain Ute Tribe Oglala Sioux Tribe

Jean Belille, Tribal Program Manager (303) 312-6291

E-Mail: <u>belille.jean@epa.gov</u>

Contact for: Spirit Lake Sioux Tribe Flandreau-Santee Sioux Tribe Rosebud Sioux Tribe

EPA MONTANA OPERATIONS OFFICE

Barbara Burkland, Tribal Program Manager (406) 441-1140 ext. 236 E-Mail: <u>burkland.barbara@epa.gov</u>

Bernadette Tsosie, Tribal Program Manager (406) 441-1140 ext. 242 E-Mail: <u>tsosie.berna@epa.gov</u>

Contacts for: Assiniboine and Sioux Tribes Blackfeet Tribe Chippewa Cree Tribe Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes Crow Tribe Fort Belknap Indian Community Northern Cheyenne Tribe

EPA REGION 9 (AZ, CA, HI, NV, AS, GU)

Indian Program Manager:	Clancy Tenley (415-744-1607)
	tenley.clancy@epa.gov

Address: EPA Region IX (CMD-3) 75 Hawthorne Street San Francisco, CA 94105 Fax: 415-538-5062

Tim Wilhite, Northern California Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 415-744-1490

e-mail: wilhite.timothy@epa.gov

Contact for: Bear River, Big Lagoon, Blue Lake, Elk Valley, Karuk, Quartz Valley, Smith River, Table Bluff, Trinidad, Yurok, Alturas, Cedarville, Fort Bidwell, Paskenta, Pit River, Redding, and Hoopa

Lisa Penaska, Central California Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 415-744-1597

e-mail: penaska.lisa@epa.gov

Contact for: Enterprise, Greenville, Grindstone, Ione Band, Laytonville, Mooretown, Shingle Springs, Tuolumne, Round Valley, Inter Tribal Council of California, Buena Vista, Chicken Ranch, Colusa, Jackson, Rumsey, Mechoopda, Sherwood Valley, Berry Creek, Auburn Rancheria, and Sheep Ranch

Clarice Olson, Mendocino Area Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 415-744-1606

e-mail: <u>olson.clarice@epa.gov</u>

Contact for: Coyote Valley, Dry Creek, Guidiville, Hopland, Lytton, Manchester, Pinoleville, Potter Valley, Redwood Valley, Stewarts Point, and Cloverdale

Nancy Oien, Owens Valley Area Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 415-744-1486

e-mail: <u>oien.nancy@epa.gov</u>

Contact for: Benton, Big Pine, Bishop, Bridgeport, Fort Independence, Lone Pine, Owens Valley Indian Water Commission, and Timbisha Shoshone

Sara Jacobs, Central California Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 415-744-1603

e-mail: jacobs.sara@epa.gov

Contact for: Cortina, Big Sandy, Cold Springs, Northfork, Picayune, Santa Rosa Rancheria, Table Mountain, Tule River, Big Valley, Elem, Robinson, Scotts Valley, Upper Lake, and Middletown

Nancy Sockabasin, Southern California Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 415-744-2209

e-mail: sockabasin.nancy@epa.gov

Contact for: Twenty-Nine Palms, Agua Caliente, Augustine, Cabazon, Morongo, Pala, Pechanga, San Manuel, Santa Ynez, Soboba, Native American Environmental Protection Coalition, La Jolla, Rincon, and San Pasqual

Jim Fletcher, US/Mexico Border Area Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 619-235-4763

e-mail: <u>fletcher.james@epa.gov</u>

Contact for: Cahuilla, Los Coyotes, Mesa Grande, Pauma, Ramona, Torres Martinez, Barona, Capitan Grande, Inaja, Jamul, Santa Rosa Reservation, Santa Ysabel, Sycuan, and Viejas

Tim Grant, Central Arizona Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 415-744-1488

e-mail: grant.timothy@epa.gov

Contact for: Ak-Chin, Fort McDowell, Gila River, Salt River, San Carlos, White Mountain, Yavapai Prescott, Inter Tribal Council of Arizona, Tonto Apache, and Yavapai Apache

Pam Overman, Arizona Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 415-744-1602

e-mail: <u>overman.pamela@epa.gov</u>

Contact for: Hopi, Navajo, Tohono O'odham, Pasqua Yaqui, and San Juan Southern Paiute

Dan Pingaro, Colorado River Area Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 415-744-2129

e-mail: pingaro.daniel@epa.gov

Contact for: Campo,Chemehuevi, Cocopah, Colorado River Indian Tribes, Cuyapaipe, Fort Mojave, Havasupai, Kaibab, Moapa, Quechan, La Posta, Las Vegas, Manzanita, and Hualapai

Greg Phillips, Western Nevada Tribal Coordinator Phone: 415-744-1537 e-mail: phillips.gregory@epa.gov

Contact for: Fallon, Lovelock, Pyramid Lake, Susanville, Walker River, Washoe, Yerington, Yomba, Nevada Indian Environmental Coalition, and Reno Sparks

Gilbert Pasqua, Eastern Nevada Tribal Coordinator

Phone: 415-744-1595

e-mail: pasqua.gilbert@epa.gov

Contact for: Battle Mountain, Duck Valley, Duckwater, Elko, Ely, Fort McDermitt, Goshute, South Fork, Summit Lake, Wells, Te-Moak, and Winnemucca

EPA REGION 10 (AK, ID, OR, WA)

Tribal Office Director: Scott Sufficool (206-553-6220)

Address: EPA Region X 1200 Sixth Avenue Seattle, WA 98101

Alaska Contacts:

Jean Gamache, Tribal Coordinator, Anchorage Interior, Koyukuk Region, Tanana Region, Yukon-Koyukuk, Yukon Flats. (907) 271-6558

Santina Baumeister, Tribal Coordinator, Anchorage Aleutian/Pribilof Islands, Kenai Penninsula, S.E. Alaska, Upper Cook Inlet, Kodiak Island. (907) 271-3413

Fred Matsuno, Tribal Coordinator, Anchorage Bering Straits, Copper River, North Slope, Northwest Arctic, Prince William Sound. (907) 271-6322

Kevin Oates, Tribal Coordinator, Anchorage Andreafski, Asacarasarmiut, Aniak Village, Anvik, Kuigpagmiut. (907) 271-6323

Richard Porter, Tribal Coordinator, Anchorage Yukon-Kuskokwim, Stebbins, Unalakleet, Saint Michael. (907) 271-1270 Nathan Spees, Tribal Coordinator, Anchorage Eklutna, Beaver, Birch Creek, CATG, Chalkyitsik, Circle, Fort Yukon, Rampart, Stevens, Tanacross, Tanana Chiefs, Venetie, Chistochina, Chitina, CRNA, Mentasta, MSTC, Healy Lake, Minto, Northway, Gulkana, Tazlina. (907) 271-6334

Doug Cole, Tribal Coordinator, Idaho Igiugig, Pedro Bay, Nondalton, Kokhanok, Iliamna, Newhalen, Nivalena consortia. (208) 378-5764

Clarence Ortman, Tribal Coordinator, Oregon Egegik, Port Heiden, Ugashik, Pilot Point. (503) 326-7024

Alan Moomaw, GAP Program Manager, Olympia Clark's Point, Togiak, Portage Creek, Ekuk, Naknek, Aleknagik, New Stuyahok, Koliganek, Ekwok, Bristol Bay Native Association consortia, Chignik Bay, Perryville, and Ivanof Bay (360) 753-8071

Idaho Contacts:

Doug Cole, Tribal Coordinator, Boise Coeur d'Alene; Kootenai; Nez Perce; Shoshone-Bannock (Fort Hall) (208) 378-5764

Arlene Boss, Liaison, Boise (208) 378-5749

Oregon Contacts:

Clarence Ortman, Tribal Coordinator, Portland Burns Paiute; Coos, Lower Umpqua, Siuslaw; Coquille; Cow Creek; Umatilla; Grand Ronde; Klamath; Siletz; Warm Springs; (503) 326-7024

Don Creek, Liaison and Tribal Newsletter, Portland (503) 326-5015

Washington Contacts:

Diana Boquist, Tribal Coordinator, Seattle

Jamestown S'Klallam; Lower Elwha Klallam; Muckleshoot; Nooksack; Port Gamble S'Klallam; Samish; Sauk-Suiattle; Suquamish; Stillaguamish; Tulalip; Upper Skagit; Skagit System Cooperative; NW Indian Fisheries Commission (206) 553-1586

Robin Slate, Tribal Coordinator, Olympia Chehalis; Hoh; Lummi; Makah; Nisqually; Puyallup; Quileute; Quinault; Shoalwater Bay; Skokomish; Squaxin Island; Swinomish; Yakama (360) 753-9082

Alan Moomaw, GAP Program Manager, Olympia (360) 753-8071

Doug Cole, Tribal Coordinator, Boise Colville; Spokane; Kalispel (208) 378-5764